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ASSEMBLYMEMBER WESLEY CHESBRO: Well, good afternoon. I would 

like to welcome everyone here today to the joint legislative sustainable wine 

hearing.  This hearing’s an opportunity for the wine industry to discuss and 

showcase many of their sustainable practices. 

California’s wine industry has long been a national leader in the organic and 

sustainable agricultural movements.  We are fortunate that so many of our 

vintners have a high degree of conscientiousness—and consciousness—about what 

they do and how it affects the environment.  They are pioneers, leading the nation 

in environmentally friendly farming and winemaking. 

Today’s first panel focuses on water, both the impacts of the drought on the 

wine industry and their response to it, using various water efficiency techniques. 

The second panel highlights the industry’s energy efficiency and greenhouse gas 

mitigation efforts. And our final panel provides a brief look at sustainable 

winegrowing, ecotourism, and promoting sustainable wine products. 

This afternoon’s hearing will be quite interesting and informative. I’m 

excited to hear the presentations. 

Senator Evans, as chair of the Senate Select Committee on California’s Wine 

Industry, would you like to make some opening remarks? 



     

 

     

              

     

   

  

            

  

        

   

    

                 

 

     

  

   

 

   

    

   

    

 

         

   

 

          

     

  

         

       

 

 
 

SENATOR NOREEN EVANS: I certainly would. 

Thank you very much, Mr. Chesbro, and thank you to all of you for coming 

today. I remember last year’s hearing on sustainable winegrape growing.  It was 

very exciting to hear the things that the industry is doing. And so, I look forward 

to an update on what has happened over the past year. 

It’s great to see a whole group of people from all of California’s winegrape 

growing…many winegrape growing regions, particularly in my own Senate district, 

as well as your Assembly district, Mr. Chesbro, and yours as well, Ms. Yamada, 

and my hometown, from Livermore and Alameda County and others. 

We have an interesting agenda for today.  The issue of the day, of course, is 

the drought and the impact not only on…well, statewide, I guess, and particularly 

the focus will be today on the effects of the drought on the winegrape growing 

industry. But that’s kind of like the topic for today. And then we also have panels 

that relate to issues that we’ll be looking at for the future, such as ecotourism, 

which I personally am very interested in, as well as energy efficiency and 

greenhouse gas mitigation, which affects all of us. 

So I’m very much looking forward to the testimony of today’s panelists.  And 

again, thank you all for coming. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Thank you, Senator Evans. 

And Assemblywoman Yamada chairs the Assembly Select Committee on 

Sustainable and Organic Agriculture.  Would you like to say some opening words? 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER MARIKO YAMADA: Sure, very quickly. 

Thank you, Chair Chesbro and Chair Evans, for including the Assembly 

Select Committee on Sustainable and Organic Agriculture, that I’ve been pleased 

to chair now going into four years. We really appreciate this opportunity to join 

with you. 

Our committee purview is a little bit broader than just wine, but I think 

today’s hearing is probably the happiest hearing that’s taking place in the 

building.  We want to be sure that what we are doing as a whole certainly is 

supportive of this very vital agricultural industry in California that serves the 

world, and that we learn from each other, because I think some of the wine 

industry’s practices for sustainable farming could certainly expand and have some 
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generalizations to other farm commodities.  Just the practices that you have 

already put in place, and should be recognized and rewarded for, I think are 

important for us to all hear. 

So thank you very much for this opportunity to join you, and I look forward 

to hearing the testimony. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: I’d also like to welcome our committee 

members, Assemblymembers Olsen and Stone.  Would either of you like to make 

any opening comments? Thanks for being here. 

Thanks to everybody for being here. 

In introduction to the first panel, let me just say a little bit of background. 

On January 17, Governor Brown proclaimed a state of emergency and directed 

state officials to take all necessary action to prepare for drought conditions. At the 

time, reservoir levels were at an all-time low and lack of rain and snowfall were of 

grave concern. In spite of above-average rain and snow in February and early 

March, much of California still has only received about 50 percent of normal 

precipitation, and our snowpack is at a mere 29 percent of normal. We are told 

that it would have to heavily rain from now through the end of May to reach the 

average annual rainfall and snowfall levels, and even then, California would still 

have drought conditions because of the two prior years of dry winters causing 

extremely low water levels in our reservoirs. 

Earlier this month Governor Brown signed emergency legislation, which we 

all voted for—we don’t want to give him all the credit—that provided funding for 

shovel-ready water projects and emergency assistance to communities hurt by the 

drought.  This legislation streamlines state rules to enable more water recycling, 

provide additional funding for infrastructure improvements to increase stormwater 

capture, and financial assistance to farmers to upgrade irrigation and water 

pumping systems to reduce water and energy use. 

One of the many impacts of this year’s drought is the potential devastation 

of many of California’s winegrape growers and vintners.  Today we will hear about 

some of their concerns, such as warmer temperatures causing vines to 

prematurely bud, resulting in an earlier growing season and a greater 

susceptibility to frost; lack of cover crops used for nutrients and trapping moisture 
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for the vines, as well as protecting topsoil erosion, vine vigor, and consideration of 

whether to remove fruit in an effort to save the vines and whether to plant new 

vines, given the substantial water needs; and availability of grapes and the 

potential skyrocketing costs of the fruit, given possible smaller yields. 

So we hope none of those things happen, but they are in the realm of 

possibility. We certainly want to consider all of that, but also the steps that are 

being taken to help solve the problem of an inadequate supply of water.  And I 

know the winegrape industry has been extremely proactive in that regard. 

Let me begin by calling the first three.  Actually, I’ll call all four of the first 

panelists up.  We have Sean White.  We have Devon Jones.  We have Steve Smit, 

John Williams, and Jerry Reaugh.  Is that five?  Let me call the first three up: 

Devon Jones and Sean White and also Jerry Reaugh. Come on forward. And I will 

ask Sean White, with the Russian River Flood Control, to kick it off. 

MR. SEAN WHITE: Good afternoon. Thank you for having us here. My 

name is Sean White.  I’m general manager of Russian River Flood Control, and we 

are the very small sister agency to Sonoma County Water Agency and, essentially, 

the wholesale water provider in the interior Mendocino County.  We get all of our 

supply from Lake Mendocino. 

In general, in the last few years you’ve heard a lot of press about water use 

for viticulture in the Upper Russian basin.  It has been in the top of the headlines. 

And one of the things that I really wanted to make sure that I got out there—really, 

from my perspective, which is that of a water manager—is I’m thankful that’s what 

I have.  You know, if you look at the history of our upper valley right now and our 

current water supply situation—we have towns in the Upper Russian River with 

names like Hopland, and there’s no hops anymore, and since they use four acre-

feet a year, I’m excited about that. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: We have a town in Humboldt called Blue 

Lake and there’s no lake. 

MR. WHITE: Right, exactly. You know, as much sort of fanfare as there 

has been about the actual water use of viticulture in the Upper Russian River, 

pretty typical for my customers to use somewhere between three-quarters of an 

acre-foot to an acre-foot a year for total crop production based on…or compared to 
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things that it’s replaced; like pears were very prevalent in our area.  That’s about 

two-and-a-half to three acre-foot per acre. We had lots of hops, which are, again, 

in our area about three, three-and-a-half acre-feet per acre.  And then we still have 

a little bit of fodder, which is almost four feet per year.  So I’m okay with the 

proliferation of viticulture. 

One of the other things that’s very important to notice is that, in general and 

in good years, the actual peak of demand for viticulture is in the spring when it’s 

usually our peak of flow, which is, from a water management perspective, a 

remarkably compatible thing.  All of the other crops that were traditionally in our 

area had a peak demand sometime in late July.  In August, which is definitely not 

my peak of supply, that’s usually when all of our tributaries and things are 

running low.  So during good years and happy times, it’s actually a very 

compatible and very sustainable crop. 

However, there are some patterns of use—in particular, for frost protection— 

that garnered a lot of attention over the last few years. And what I wanted to talk 

to you about are some of the steps we have taken in the Upper Russian River to 

mitigate those conflicts during dry springs.  Dry springs are particularly 

problematic in the upper basin for a number of reasons.  The spring is the only 

time we’re really allowed to increase storage in our reservoir.  So if we get a dry 

spring, our storage in Lake Mendocino and carryover into the fall is generally very 

impaired.  It’s also when vines are budding. 

And these dry springs are almost always concomitant with cold, cold 

weather. It’s the clear, cold skies that bring poor rainfall and heavy frost. In 2008 

we sort of saw what was the “perfect storm” of those conditions.  We had a very, 

very dry spring and a very, very heavy year of frost.  Pretty typical in my district to 

see somewhere between five to seven frost nights for a season. In 2008, depending 

on where you were in the upper basin, it was between 20 and 32. It was really 

quite an exceptional year. 

What ended up happening, as those sequence of frost protection events 

happened and flows continued to recede as runoff diminished, is you would see 

very dramatic swings in daily discharge in the upper basin. April of 2008 is sort of 

when it all came to a great, big public crescendo, and on those days we had 
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somewhere in the neighborhood of 150 cubic-feet per second in the river, and we 

were seeing 70 CFS diurnal deviations in flow.  So essentially, 50 percent of the 

discharge was coming and going on a 12-hour cycle. That got the attention of a lot 

of regulators.  Lots of things went into motion. 

But from the very beginning, myself and Devon and a few other viticulturists 

in the upper basin started meeting, before there was ever any proposals for frost 

regulations and other things, about what can we do to mitigate this impact? And 

it was really about smoothing demand. The problem with frost is it happens to 

everybody all at the same time, so everybody’s turning on at exactly the same time, 

and they’re using overhead irrigation, which is not the normal means of viticulture 

in our area. It’s all drip irrigation, but for frost it’s overhead.  So you get high 

demand overhead, all turning on simultaneously, and it creates these big spikes. 

So the real solution we came up for this is not having people direct-divert for 

frost but to basically store water in offstream reservoirs during frost—divert from 

those—and then during periods where there is no frost, slowly recharging those 

ponds to not have such a high, instantaneous demand. 

During 2008, like I said, these peak swings were about 70 cubic feet per 

second, and it was sort of our goal as a group to build enough storage to, we 

thought, at least equal half of that diurnal swing.  So we’re, like, if we can take 35 

CFS offline, we would be successful. 

Well, through good fortune and cooperation, that number is now 200 

percent. We have, since 2008—we have a table in this little handout we put 

together—but we have taken a little over 1,200 acres off direct diversion, and we 

have taken 143 cubic feet per second off direct diversion. So we’ve more than 

doubled the maximum daily swing we saw in a handful of years.  That was done, 

in large part you’ll see here, by private money and other parts by this program 

called AWEP.  One of the things that we were lucky to do is write a grant for our 

area.  We got $5.7 million for the construction of offstream ponds, and people 

really stepped up to the plate and went after it. It’s one of the things that we’re 

very proud. 
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ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Can you give us some sense of what 

proportion of your service area of the ag acres the 1,200 represents? How much of 

the problem has been solved by that? 

MR. WHITE: That 1,200 right now is probably about 30 percent of 

mainstem diverters in the footprint that we need to deal with it. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Is it assumed that this is a work in 

progress and that you’ll continue to march forward … 

MR. WHITE: This is absolutely a work in progress.  I think what’s been sort 

of interesting as these things have become installed—you know, there was the 

original reason for doing it, but now there’s the other reason for doing it. Most of 

the viticulturists in my area that have stepped up to the plate and taken this 

proactive step now are enjoying the luxury of having a pond. 

Operationally in our area, what will normally happen is you’ll get a big, cold 

storm front that will move through, and it’s on the clearing day after the storm 

that you get frost. Well, what’s happened is it’s just rained; the river is at debris 

torrent. There are logs passing down, and you’re trying to slide a diversion in 

there. It’s a very stressful moment.  Now if you have six days of storage in a pond 

while you’re watching your neighbors freak out, you just flick the switch. It’s a 

much easier day than it used to be. So there are very good practical implications 

for doing it as well. I have more going in this year already that I know of, and I’m 

sure as time passes, it will be more and more. 

The other thing that was a big part of our goal back then was to not only 

start building storage but an alternative source of supply to fill those ponds, and 

we now have two ponds that by the end of this year will be filled by recycled water. 

So the recharge water won’t even be coming out of the river. And we’re hopeful 

over the next few years we’ll start tying even more of these into that system. 

SENATOR EVANS: Where are you getting the recycled water? 

MR. WHITE: The city of Ukiah.  Since everything that’s been done to the 

south of us—Windsor and Santa Rosa and all the places, you know—our tiny burb 

is now the single largest discharger of waste water into the Russian River.  So we 

are working hard to reduce that—we don’t want that title—and put it to beneficial 

use for things like agriculture. 
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I ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: I have a really basic question. 

remember the first time I heard of using water to freeze the buds and protect the 

buds—I mean, to coat the buds—it was very counterintuitive.  In case everyone 

doesn’t come from a region where that technique is used, can you just sort of 

explain how that works, how that protects the buds? 

MR. WHITE: It’s a confusing situation, but basically, through the change of 

state and also through ice only getting as cold as 32 degrees, you can prevent 

through heat loss and conversion state and the fact that it’s ice and not frost, you 

can prevent the buds from going below 32 degrees, which is where actual frost 

damage occurs.  It’s when it dips into the high twenties for several hours where 

you really see burns. So if you can encase them in a medium that’s 32 degrees 

and then continue to pour water on it, the changed state from the water that’s still 

being poured on, any conversion of state you have a loss of heat, and it maintains 

it at 32 degrees.  When I first saw it—I’m not a farmer—I was, like, what? 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Well, maybe all the other members the 

first time they heard of it instantly got it, but I got to admit, the first time I heard 

that you put ice around the buds to protect them, I kind of just tried to figure that 

one out. 

MR. WHITE: And it is important to know that in parts of the Russian River, 

you can use a lot of alternative methods with machines or other things.  But where 

we’re at in upper Mendocino County, we generally don’t have cold air to mix with 

the wind machine.  So it’s really our only alternative in most sites. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Yes, we have a question from Ms. 

Yamada. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER YAMADA: The source of that five-something million 

that you mentioned … 

MR. WHITE: Five point seven, yes. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER YAMADA: What was the funding source? 

MR. WHITE: USDA. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER YAMADA: Okay. So there hopefully will be some 

continuing funding of that sort? 
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MR. WHITE: It was a five-year pot.  We built ponds every single year using 

that money. It was an odd grant. Basically, we won the grant but we did not get 

the money itself. It was basically designated money to our region for the USDA to 

distribute, and they did, actually, a fabulous job.  They were great partners. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: If there’s no other questions, I’d like to 

certainly welcome our colleague, Mr. Levine, to join us. 

Thank you, Sean.  

Next we’re going to hear from Devon Jones with the Mendocino County 

Farm Bureau. 

MS. DEVON JONES: Thank you for having us here today. I’ll kind of segue 

into what Mr. White was discussing. He sort of touched on where we’ve been over 

the last few years, and I’ll kind of go into where we’re going specific to this year. 

This is a whole new territory. I’m sure you have been dealing with it as well 

at the state level.  For us it’s been a very drastic year.  We’re looking at currently, 

even with the rain that we’ve received in the last couple of months, we’re only 

sitting about 49 percent of capacity for Lake Mendocino.  So it’s an improvement. 

We’ve all been doing our rain dances in various ways and have been grateful for 

every drop we’ve received. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: I might just say that I’ve been using the 

example of Mendocino County of how severe the drought is statewide. I say, If 

there’s a drought in Mendocino, with the exception of Humboldt—pretty much the 

rainiest place in the state—then we’ve got a real serious drought. 

I’m sorry to interrupt. 

MS. JONES: No, it’s okay.  But just to give you an idea, as of January we 

had less than two inches.  El Centro, California had more rain than we did as of 

January.  So that was kind of a scary indicator for us.  Right now, even since 

January, we’re not quite between 12 and 14, depending on which rain gauge you 

actually look at.  That’s only about 38 percent of normal for us.  Typically, we’re 

25, 26 inches by now this time of year. 

We’re all doing our part. We’ve seen some of the change petitions go into 

place from the water management in Sonoma County.  Sean is very much an 

integral part of that puzzle.  His district actually went to a 50 percent mandated 
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reduction and contract.  So it’s across the board, trying to set an example for the 

municipalities in the area. 

Agriculture has stepped up.  We understand that this is a community issue. 

It’s not just agriculture versus domestic use.  We do want to see even cuts.  We 

don’t want to see the golf course being watered when livelihoods are at stake, but 

at the same time, we want to make our contributions as well. 

So with that, we’ve been having a series of meetings; we normally have had 

since 2008. We’ve met with Sonoma County and some of the growers down there 

to kind of get a regional approach and some solutions.  We’re getting very creative 

this year in terms of management because we know tough decisions are going to 

have to be made.  The water just isn’t there, especially on the tributary systems or 

for those individuals who don’t have the luxury of the storage ponds. 

We’re seeing a lot of pruning techniques—you know, long pruning, light 

pruning.  We’re seeing different cultivation techniques, trying to lock some of the 

moisture in the soil. Luckily, like I said, with the rains we have received, our soil 

moisture profile is a lot better than we were looking at in January.  We have some 

folks contemplating irrigation starting in January because of the fact that we had 

no water moisture left. 

So difficult decisions are going to have to be made in some regions.  Potter 

Valley, for example, for part of the watershed.  Redwood Valley is potentially 

looking at zero allocations for water supply for agriculture, depending upon where 

we go. And so, that could be a potential fiscal loss for a lot of those individuals. 

They’re looking at, like you mentioned, Mr. Chesbro—they were talking about 

which varieties are they going to protect, which varieties they’re not going to 

protect, how much crop they’re going to drop on the ground, depending on 

contracts that they need to fulfill for this coming year, and they’re looking at 

basically sustaining the actual infrastructure of the vine versus the single-year 

crop. 

So there are going to be difficult decisions that have to be made. We really 

don’t know that damage level as of yet.  We’re working pretty closely with our ag 

commissioner who will be doing surveys—probably in late May or early June, once 

we get through frost season—to kind of determine what those potential damage 
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levels could be. Some individuals will tell you they’re not going to frost-protect. 

They feel that they can get through it.  They’re saving what water they do have 

available for irrigation, or vice versa.  Just sort of depends on the personal 

management decision. 

Hopefully, we are going to go into an irrigation system—if we get through the 

frost season this year—in coordination with Sonoma County Water Agency and the 

Flood Control District to coordinate potential recharging of the ponds; to assist 

with the irrigation, doing sort of a first-time scheduling approach per se on the 

main stem itself to, hopefully, kind of level out demand for irrigation.  We also 

have other commodities that we are concerned about, such as the pears that do 

have a higher water demand during the summer for sizing the fruit. 

So it’s going to be a very tricky year. I think this is something that none of 

us were really prepared for. But I do want to tell you that agriculture is stepping 

up to the plate.  We realize the situation is there, and we’re going to do our part to 

make sure that public health is the priority. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: I might add, as I’m sure that Senator 

Evans knows down in Sonoma County, the Russian River is a critical habitat for 

the endangered coho and other salmon and steelhead fisheries. 

Before this series of drought years, the flows and the water temperatures 

and the other things that happened in the Russian River have been identified by 

federal state agencies as being of critical import. I know that exists in other 

agricultural areas in the state, but I think in the Russian River it’s of particular 

concern. So that’s another layer of concern, along with the water supply for 

domestic and commercial use, along with public health and all the other factors 

that we in the region need to contend with. 

MS. JONES: And I appreciate that.  Maybe on my final comment on some of 

that note would be, you know, we are trying to work with USDA and some other 

funding sources through, sort of, “not letting any good emergency go to waste” sort 

of mantra. I mean, really the best solution for all the water users, the beneficial 

water users in this situation, is to be able to put more water into storage.  And so, 

if we can continue to do the projects that we have done, it’ll assist both the fishery, 

the public health components, and agriculture. 
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ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Okay. I thank you both very much. 

Next we’re going to hear from Jerry Reaugh, Paso Robles Agricultural 

Alliance for Groundwater Solutions and owner of Sereno Vista Vineyards.  We’ve 

been reading a lot about the Central Coast water issues, so I’m looking forward to 

what you have to tell us about it. 

MR. JERRY REAUGH: Well, thank you.  It’s an honor and a privilege to be 

able to speak before you today. 

I’m Jerry Reaugh. I’m an owner of an 80-acre vineyard. I’m also chairman 

of PRAAGS.  You said the name as well as I can.  We are a grassroots organization 

of viticulturists, other irrigated ag … 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: I assume PRAAGS must be made up of 

pragmatists, huh? 

MR. REAUGH: Well, you’re the first one to say that. I’ve got to remember 

that. 

Yes we are.  We’re farmers, we’re viticulturists, rangeland cattlemen, and we 

got together as a group to start addressing the water issues in Paso Robles.  And 

so, I’d like to start out with a question—and hopefully I’ll answer this question by 

the end of my little talk here—is, What does a bunch of farmers and rural 

residents in Paso Robles trying to create a water district have to do with 

sustainable winegrowing?  I hope to answer that question. 

We, too, have had a “perfect storm” of events. As you probably know, Paso 

Robles has been very, very successful in its viticulture and wine industry over the 

last ten, fifteen years.  Along with that, the tourism in our area, both San Luis 

Obispo and Paso Robles, has been wonderful.  There’s a great symbiotic 

relationship between the two.  Around the town square in Paso Robles there’s 18 

restaurants. In ’87 you’d probably find two or three restaurants, and all you’d get 

would be tri-tip.  Because of this, our area has been attractive to investment and 

development, and it’s continued to cause—and rightfully so—investment and 

development. 

We’ve kind of been the Wild West when it comes to water.  The only 

restriction in water in San Luis Obispo County is to pay a $45 drill…going for a 

$45 permit to drill a well.  So as I said, it’s been kind of the Wild West, and all of a 
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sudden the drought hit.  And I don’t have to talk about the drought.  We’re all in 

the middle of it and we know what’s involved. 

So guess what happened when the drought hit? Wells started going dry. 

What a strange thing.  So the battle began between rural residents—we have kind 

of a hybrid in our area; there’s a bunch of antiquated developments where you 

have two or three hundred houses right out in the middle of an agricultural area, 

and each one has their own well. I hate to point out they also have their own 

septic tank.  So the battle began between rural residents and vineyards.  And you 

know you have a problem when CBS national news shows up and does a segment 

on vineyards versus rural residents.  They have the beautiful vineyards and all the 

land, and then they show somebody with their well going dry. So as you might 

expect, the debate heated up and raged for months and months. 

Finally, the board of supervisors in the county got involved, and they passed 

a two-year moratorium on all new development; not just vineyard development but 

all development.  Any development over the basin that was not part of one of the 

cities—if you were going to connect to a groundwater source, you had no 

development.  And so, that meant no new planning. If you wanted to build your 

beautiful, new horse corral and facility to wash your horses, you can’t do it. So 

you can imagine that caused some controversy. 

During this debate two groups emerged: our group, PRAAGS (the 

pragmatists), and we represented primarily the agricultural interests in there—and 

another group called PRO Water Equity, which was representing the rural 

residents concerned about their wells. They look across the street and they see 

300 acres of vineyards and they go, My bowl is going down. It’s obvious why that’s 

happening.  So as you might guess, these groups are substantially polarized. 

Our local supervisor got us together; he locked us in a room, he turned the 

heat up and said, You guys are going to talk.  And after about four or five sessions 

we were talking.  Actually, it was amazing. It became very clear that there was 

common ground between our groups. I mean, you’d sit down in a meeting and 

they’d be over there and we’d be over here and with scowling and all of that. The 

common ground says, okay, there’s a general recognition:  we have problems with 

water in our basin; we need solutions. 
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The other thing is it became very apparent there had been no one 

representing the rural residents or the farmers over in the large basin— 

500,000-acre basin, 50,000 acres of irrigated ag, over 10,000 rural residents, and 

no one representing us as an entity.  So nothing had basically been done forever. 

All the sources of water that were available in the area had been gobbled up by the 

cities. Why is that? Because they were organized and, I like to say, they had a 

seat at the table. 

So one of the things that came out of this group is we actually came 

together and we really now are on the same page. We talk at the same meetings. 

We text each other. My former opponent is now on my speed dial on my cellphone. 

UNIDENTIFIED: Your Facebook friend. 

MR. REAUGH: Well, I’m a little old for that. 

So we came up with a radical idea. I mean, this is really novel.  We wanted 

to create a water district.  You know, there’s only 400 water districts in California. 

We’re one of the largest agricultural areas without a water district. So this was 

really a strange idea. 

The question that came up is, What kind of a water district?  And again, 

there’s two fundamental types of water districts: one is based on land ownership, 

and one is based on a “one person, one vote.” And that was part of the 

discussions between our two groups is how do you balance the interests of those 

two things?  And when you talk about landowner-based voting and other things, 

there are some issues with that.  People will bring up issues of equal protection; it 

can disenfranchise registered voters; large landowners can dominate.  So if you 

own 40,000 acres and I’m on my one-acre parcel, how do I compete against the 

40,000-acre person? 

But landownership voting is in the California Water Code through a 

California water district, and it’s actually gone to the U.S. Supreme Court twice 

and has been upheld. 

But the “one person, one vote” also has some issues as well. It can 

disenfranchise nonresident landowners. In our proposed basin, our largest 

landowner owns 40,000 acres, but she’s a lady that lives in San Diego and has a 

trust, and she would have no vote. I know another farmer who has been in the 
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community for many years.  He farms hundreds of acres, employs lots of people, 

has a large winery, but he happens to live outside our proposed district.  That 

person would have no vote. And it could also be disproportional, you know. Five 

renters can have five votes, and somebody owning 5,000 acres gets one vote.  So 

there’s some issues with both. And these are all legitimate issues. 

One of the things as our two groups got together and said was, Okay, how 

can we solve these basic fundamental issues, these competing interests? And what 

we came up with is we’ve proposed creating a water district, an off-the-shelf 

California water district with a hybrid board of directors and a unique voting 

structure.  And because of that, it’s not a standard California water district; it 

requires special legislation. There’s a bill being moved forward by Assemblyman 

Achadjian, talking about special legislation.  And the only change in this special 

legislation is this board of director votes. Otherwise, everything is part of 

California code. 

So what is the unique structure? It’s a nine-member board of directors. 

Three directors would be elected by registered voters, and six directors would be 

elected by landowner-based voting.  Because of some concerns, we’ve segmented 

the six landowner-based voting into three classes. We call them small, medium, 

and large. We were really inspirational that day. But what we really did is, the 

issue is, if you’ve got ten acres, how are you going to compete with the 40,000-acre 

person?  So the directors would be split into those three classes.  The large 

landowners compete against the large landowners, the medium landowners 

compete again the medium landowners, and the small compete against.  And 

that’s the basis of our legislation. 

We feel this is the best solution for our current situation in our 

demographics.  Many counties in California have kind of emerged from a rural 

area to an urban area, and they’ve actually changed the structure of their water 

districts, going from landowner-based voting to residential voting. 

So let me get back to my original question:  What does a bunch of farmers 

and rural residents in Paso Robles trying to create a water district have to do with 

sustainable winegrowing?  Well, I think the answer to that is obvious: everything. 
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This is where sustainability has to start in our community.  How can we support 

the three legs of sustainability if we can’t manage our own groundwater basin? 

Right now there is no management of our groundwater basin. We hear very 

clear signals coming from Sacramento that you folks would prefer to have local 

people solve and work on their groundwater issues, and that’s what we’re trying to 

do. We’re trying to preserve and protect our basin. It’s clearly our top priority. 

And we feel our proposed special legislation is the key to help the rural residents 

and the farmers manage the Paso Robles groundwater basin locally. 

So thank you very much for your attention. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Well, thank you very much, Mr. Reaugh. 

I’m able to make a little more sense of it after…I’ve not been able to quite figure it 

out from afar, reading the news articles. 

MR. REAUGH: Well, it’s tough to distill this into seven minutes. And I 

apologize for talking very fast. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: And I have to say, as an annual visitor to 

Cayucos, I’ve been amazed every year seeing the expansion of the vineyards. It’s 

an enjoyable place to visit and taste wine. 

MR. REAUGH: Well, I hope you stopped in Paso on your way to Cayucos. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Of course. That was the point. Yes, 

absolutely. 

We appreciate your presentations, all three of you.  Thanks. 

Next I’m going to call up John Williams with Frog’s Leap Winery in Napa 

Valley and Steve Smit with Constellation Wines US.  And it’s good to see you 

again, John. 

MR. JOHN WILLIAMS: How are you? 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Good. How are you? 

MR. WILLIAMS: I brought notes so I wouldn’t get lost. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: You want to start out, John? 

MR. WILLIAMS: Yes, please. 

Well, thanks.  Thanks to the committee for having me today.  And also, 

thanks to the Wine Institute for inviting me.  Their Sustainable Winegrowing 

Alliance has really been fantastic. 
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ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: I’m going to use that moment to 

acknowledge the presence of Bobby Cook in the room. 

Go ahead. 

MR. WILLIAMS: As Wes mentioned, I’m the owner and winemaker of Frog’s 

Leap Winery. Just to give you some perspective, we farm approximately 200 acres 

of grapes in the Rutherford and Saint Helena appellation of the Napa Valley.  Two 

hundred acres of grapes gives you about 1,000 tons of grapes. That’s 50-60 

thousand cases of wine.  We have about 50 employees, about $15 million in sales. 

So a nice small family business—and I’m glad to have some of my family here 

today:  my daughter Catherine, who many of you recognize around the Capitol. 

We’re really proud of our efforts with respect to social, environmental, and 

all the sustainability stuff.  Among other things, we were the first organic 

vineyards in the Napa Valley. We’ve now been certified “organically grown” for 25 

years. We’re also the first LEED-certified building in the entire California wine 

industry. I’m very proud of that.  Among the very first to use photovoltaic systems 

to provide all of our electrical needs. Also, I think one of the first to use 

ground-source heating and cooling for our buildings. And I’m obviously personally 

proud of being among those who initiated the Rutherford Dust river restoration 

program, which this body has recognized, and thank you very much for that. 

Sorry I didn’t get to make the ceremony. I heard it was a good time. 

But that’s not why I’m here today. As drought conditions persist over the 

state, attention has been rightly focused on how we use water in our North Coast 

vineyards.  You’ve heard, and will hear, testimony on ideas and initiatives to store 

water, divert water, share water, conserve water.  But what if we used no water for 

irrigation at all?  Frog’s Leap is one of a handful of vineyards in the North Coast 

who dry-farms their vineyards; meaning, we use no irrigation water to establish or 

grow our vines. 

Now, that seems like a radical concept. Please consider that for more than 

100 years, every grape grown in the Napa Valley was dry-farmed.  Indeed, all the 

great and fundamental wines that establish the reputation of the Napa Valley—the 

great old Inglenooks and B&Bs, the Stags’ Leap that won the Paris tasting; I know, 

I was the only employee there at the time; Chateau  Montelena, all the great Robert 
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Mondavi wines—each and every one of these wines was from a dry-farmed 

vineyard. 

Irrigation, of course, is not allowed in most other fine winegrowing regions of 

the world, including France, Germany, Italy, Spain, and Portugal, even though 

many of these regions have similar or lower annual rainfall and more challenging 

slopes, soils, and aspects than we encounter here in many of our growing regions 

of California. I sometimes hear that, Oh, sure, you can dry-farm your vineyards 

because your vineyards are on—whatever the valley floor. But I’ve nine different 

vineyards in many different places in the valley, and we dry-farm each and every 

one of them.  But moreover, I’ve been to the Douro Valley in Portugal. If you’ve 

ever been, it’s insane, you know? I’ve been to Rioja, which gets eight inches of rain 

a year. I’ve been to Châteauneuf-du-Pape, where there’s no soil; just cobblestones. 

If you’ve ever seen it, it’s the most extraordinary thing in the world. And I’ve been 

to Jerez, the Spanish region in France where they make sherry, where there’s 

precious little rainfall and, in many cases, no soil at all.  And all these places are 

successfully and profitably dry-farmed. 

So, what’s the question?  Drip irrigation was not introduced into the Napa 

Valley until 1975 by the Beckstoffer farming group. It became popular because it 

could boost yields, and it took off.  We believe—although it’s never been 

conclusively linked—the fact that the roots came up to meet this irrigation water 

was what caused the phylloxera crisis in the late ’80s and ’90s which required 

relief from the state to replant.  Unfortunately, two-thirds of the vineyards of Napa 

had to be replanted, and even more unfortunately, they were all planted on less 

drought-resistant rootstocks. So the result is now there are only a handful of 

North Coast vineyards still dry-farmed, and most vineyardists would testify that it 

is indeed impossible to grow grapes in the Napa Valley without irrigation. 

Most of us who practice dry-farming don’t do it to save water.  In fact, if we 

thought we could grow better grapes, we’d pour the water on, okay? We don’t 

irrigate because dry-farming is closely associated with wine quality.  Grapes grown 

in deep connection with the soil have greater balance, more restraint, and a much 

greater capacity to reflect “terroir”—the Holy Grail of winemaking. Other 

advantages, of course, of dry-farming include lower costs of operation; reduced 
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inputs, including herbicides and fertilizers; improved vine health; and disease 

resistance and greater vine longevity and more stable yields. 

It’s important to state that dry-farming is not a noun; it’s a verb. It’s a 

system of farming worked out over decades and handed down from farmer to 

farmer that takes great care in selecting the right cultivar and rootstock for the 

site.  To prepare the soil to receive the vine, and to prepare the soil to increase the 

water quality capacity of the soil by developing humus. By encouraging deep 

rooting, by field budding, and the wisdom of proper orientation trellising and 

spacing of the wines.  All of these things are part of setting up a vineyard to be 

dry-farmed.  It takes a little bit longer to establish a dry-farm vineyard, but it pays 

off in longevity. 

Well, unfortunately, the knowledge about how to dry-farm successfully in 

the wine regions of California is slowly but surely being lost, and now it’s pretty 

much accepted that its methods are wishful-thinking and relics of the past.  But I 

think we can use this time of shorter rainfall to perhaps open that discussion and 

revive this carefully tested method. If nothing else, it would be helpful to those of 

us who dry-farm to know that there was a research point of view that established 

some of the science behind this, behind our success.  We know this works 

inherently. We know the methods that need to go through it.  But no one has 

studied this at the university. No one’s promoted it at the university or through 

any of our ag extension agents or so on. Perhaps with that knowledge it would be 

useful even to those who don’t irrigate.  If we use UC extensions’ estimate that 

grape vines in the Napa Valley need about 100 gallons of water per vine—and let’s 

say there are 640 vines per acre—if, say, just the 30,000…let’s assume that there 

are 30,000 acres in Napa that are irrigated.  As you can do the math there, that’s 

2 billion gallons of water.  Well, even if we could save half of that—you know, have 

a billion here, a billion there—pretty soon we’re talking about some water, you 

know?  And so, I think it would be useful to do that. 

So please understand it’s not my testimony that California farmers, 

including vineyards, are water wasters or are carelessly farming, but I do think 

that some time-honored ways of farming, like dry-farming, where water was harder 

19
 



    

  

 

         

             

   

  

          

             

   

 

       

  

  

              

  

   

      

 

   

 

      

       

     

     

   

           

      

      

   

           

             

 
 

to access and distribute, could be profitably revisited and encouraged—and 

probably should be. 

Thank you. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Thanks. In part inspired by you, a few 

weeks ago I had some grape growers in my office and asked them about dry 

farming and the drought—and I’m interested in your response to this—but they 

said that the problem is that at some point, the soil dries out to the point that 

there’s not…and the water table has dropped enough that dry-farmed grapes get 

into trouble. So if this drought continues at the extreme level that it has been, is 

that a risk of dry-farming?  And it’s not a critical question because I like what you 

do. 

MR. WILLIAMS: No, no. Believe me, when we pioneered organic farming 

twenty-five years ago, I heard all these same sort of things, right?  Everyone had a 

reason why this wouldn’t work.  And yet, look at the history of this.  And also, I 

think a good thing we could do is just look at how the winegrowing regions in 

other parts of the world, who get very minimal … 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: That’s a compelling argument. 

MR. WILLIAMS: It’s a fairly compelling argument.  But what you have to 

think about is the soil—and if I’m talking too much, please say so.  The soil is like 

a teacup, okay? The first thing that’s going to happen is you’re going to saturate 

the soil.  And then the runoff is what allows us to divert and store water and 

irrigate, and so on and so forth.  So the first water’s going to go to fill the soil. 

We’ve filled the soil for this year, by the way, and so, there’s no threat to anyone 

who dry-farms—in my neck of the woods anyway now.  I understand there are 

different parts where we grow grapes. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: And they weren’t from Napa. 

MR. WILLIAMS: Well, I understand. But we have folks here from Paso 

Robles, and I don’t know what the situation is there.  Although, I know there are 

dry-farm vineyards down there, so someone must know how to do it. 

In fact, I think it’s kind of like that ice thing:  it’s a little counterintuitive. 

Your absolute best protection during a drought is to have no irrigation and to have 

your roots established deeply in the ground. The vine, then, will use its natural 
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wisdom to slow and moderate its growth if drought becomes persistent, okay?  If 

you have a root ball the size of a basketball waiting for your weekly allocation of 

water, it has no chance to explore the soil, and the vines become dumb. They lose 

their innate ability to slow their growth, measure their crop, and so on.  So I 

believe if drought becomes persistent, the methods of dry-farming, which 

encourage deep rooting, will become even more important than they are today.  So 

it’s a bit counterintuitive. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Thank you. Other questions or 

comments? 

Senator Evans? 

SENATOR EVANS: That’s an excellent point, and I think that’s one of the 

focuses of our discussion today. But I have just a question about how dry-farming 

is defined.  You heard the testimony earlier from Mendocino folks about the use of 

water for frost protection.  So does dry-farming include water for frost protection or 

not? 

MR. WILLIAMS: No.  We’re strictly talking about crop irrigation. 

SENATOR EVANS: So you could use water for frost protection and still be 

dry-farming. 

MR. WILLIAMS: Yes.  And it wouldn’t be the first dry farmer who thought 

that an extra hour of frost protection didn’t hurt them in the springtime. We’re 

more than glad to cheat if we think it would be helpful. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Ms. Eggman? 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER SUSAN TALAMANTES EGGMAN: Thank you.  Thank 

you for your testimony. 

I was going to ask what are some of the resistance to doing this, but I think 

Wes has kind of covered it. It’s the way we’ve always done it, with irrigation, and 

so that’s the way we do it. 

Is there a way besides saving you the cost of irrigation water to incentivize 

people to do more dry-farming? 

MR. WILLIAMS: Wine quality.  And that’s what advanced, of course, 

organic farming.  We were never going to win the argument of saving earth and 

hugging trees and wearing tie-dyed. What we did was we said this was 
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fundamental to wine quality. It became popular in the press. And in fact, if you 

read the subtext of the wine ____________, I guess you’d say, dry-farming is 

suddenly getting exposed just like organic and biodynamic farming did twenty 

years ago.  So I think wine quality will eventually be a part of this. I could go on 

forever about that, but that’s perhaps another session. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER EGGMAN: Thank you very much. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Any other comments or questions from 

committee members? 

Ms. Yamada. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER YAMADA: I was just going to mention that I think 

wine contributes to longevity, right?  Drink more wine. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER EGGMAN: I second that. 

MR. WILLIAMS: Actually, I’m 150, so I’m looking good. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Okay. Well, next we’re going to hear from 

Steve Smit, who’s with Constellation Wines. 

MR. STEVE SMIT: Good afternoon, everybody.  And thank you for holding 

these hearings on sustainable winegrowing. 

My name’s Steve Smit. I’ve vice president and general manager on the 

Central Coast for Constellation Brands. And I’m also the chairman of the 

California Sustainable Winegrowing Alliance. It’s a pleasure to be sitting here, as 

an opposite here, for also a small company, but one of the world’s leading 

premium brands. 

UNIDENTIFIED: Family-owned. 

MR. SMIT: Family-owned, exactly.  With a number of brands: Robert 

Mondavi, Simi, Clos du Bois, Estancia, Wild Horse; the list goes on.  We have 

about 1,500 employees, over 12 wineries, and about 13,000 acres in most 

premium areas in California.  So the subject is, of course, extremely important to 

us.  The whole subject of environmental sustainability is important to 

Constellation Brands.  It’s part of our, kind of, three legs of community and social 

giving as well. 

We were involved from the inception on developing this code of sustainable 

standards. It’s been fifteen years now, or something like that, we’ve had this thing 
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in there, and it’s been important for us. And so, having a hearing like this, it’s 

important to be here, and I appreciate your time here because it’s something that’s 

not…it’s never going to be done.  We have to talk about continuous improvement 

and challenge each other and keep on going here. 

So of course, we’re here for the drought, and I don’t think I need to tell you 

that we’re in an emergency here. I think, though, we need to point out that the 

wine industry has been working, has been focused, I think, on water use for quite 

a while.  Water use efficiency in the wineries and the vineyards has been 

incorporated into most wineries. Again, it’s an item of continuous improvement. 

We’re continuing to work on this. 

I think wineries across the state, including Constellation, have done a 

number of measures that I think are important, including, for example, meters 

and developing metrics of water use. I think that people did not ever really think 

about it when it was this short. So I think we’re lucky that we’ve been looking at it 

for this amount of time to kind of cover this. Using low-flow, high-pressure tank 

washers—small examples like that. Reusing water in barrel washing. And of 

course, reusing winery wastewater in the vineyards.  Good examples there.  In the 

vineyards, really looking at water use of the vine in order to understand what the 

water requirements are instead of just turning on the drip irrigation system.  And, 

of course, using drip systems across. 

So even though I think we’ve done a lot, continuous improvement means we 

need to keep on working on this. Across the state I think we need to…do you have 

collaborative efforts that we’re working on with the industry, with the government? 

I think you all know of many, but I think there are even more small groups that 

are working on this, that are taking this to heart. 

I think in wineries, with groups looking at, again, measuring water, 

developing metrics in the vineyards, not only understanding how much the vine is 

using but predicting how much the vine is going to need and predicting irrigation 

needs—we’re working with NASA; we’re working with the California Irrigation 

Management Systems—are all examples of this thing. 

So in closing, I reiterate how Constellation feels and the CSWA feel. 

Appreciate your support and approval in holding these hearings. 
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ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Thank you for sharing your testimony 

and your information today.  We’re pleased to have you both with us. 

Any comments or questions from members? 

If not, thanks very much.  Thanks for all the presentations from the first 

panel. 

Our next panel—and maybe I’ll call them out and then you can…there’s only 

four, so I can call you all at once.  There are four chairs up here.  Chris Savage of 

E. & J. Gallo Winery; Bill Cooper of Cooper-Garrod Estate Vineyards; Christy 

Pestoni Abreu, Pestoni Family Winery; and Matt Belair, Delicato Family Vineyards. 

So please come on forward, and I’ll begin my comments while you’re coming 

forward. 

This panel will discuss the wine industry’s energy efficiency efforts and their 

success at greenhouse gas reduction efforts. California’s winegrape growers and 

vintners have become leaders in the fight against global climate change.  According 

to a study conducted by the Wine Institute, over the last four years California 

wineries have eliminated 30,371 tons of carbon dioxide emissions, resulting in 

more than 55 million kilowatt hours in energy savings; as a result, 359 energy 

efficiency and alternative energy projects statewide.  This is the equivalent of 

removing 4,300 cars from the road for one year.  The industry has also been a 

leader in reducing landfill gases by composting and using compost, as well as 

producing biogas to create clean energy. 

So we will begin with Chris Savage with Gallo. 

MR. CHRIS SAVAGE: Thank you, Mr. Chesbro, members of the committee. 

We appreciate the time. I’m Chris Savage, as mentioned. My day job is senior 

director of Global Environmental Affairs for E. & J. Gallo Winery. Basically, my 

department and the folks that work within the group look after regulatory 

compliance, the environmental components of the company, as well as the 

sustainability.  As Mr. Chesbro knows, we have a very large composting operation 

down in our Fresno facility that’s been highly successful; no small part to some of 

your support of the earth, so we greatly appreciate that. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: I was wishing I’d said this in your 

introduction, but the relationship with Gallo goes back to 1973 when we founded 
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the Arcata Recycling Center and had to find some place to ship our recycled glass 

to.  We shipped gondola cars full of glass to Modesto, where it was made into new 

wine bottles. Anyway, that was a business relationship long before I got into 

politics, but was also a mutual commitment to sustainability way back then. 

MR. SAVAGE: Fabulous.  In the spirit of Six Degrees of Separation—I’m a 

Humboldt State grad; so there you go. It all kind of ties back together. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: You know of which I speak. 

MR. SAVAGE: I know very clearly what you speak. 

Part of my side jobs—I guess my night duties—I’m also a board member for 

the California Sustainable Winegrowing Alliance, which I’ve been involved with, 

more or less, since the inception of the program, along with Steve Smit and others. 

It’s been a very highly successful group. I also chair the Environmental Working 

Group for Wine Institute.  And then, I also chair a couple of international 

committees looking at sustainability and environmental trade issues on a global 

basis for organizations like FIVS and others which look after, kind of, the global 

wine sector.  Sometimes I wonder how I have time to do my day job. I think my 

boss would probably echo that from time to time. 

I think, as you’ve heard, sustainability is really a cornerstone of the 

industry.  We’ve been at it for a very long time. It really, in my view, is one of the 

main things that helps contribute to the major economic engine in the state, which 

is over $61 billion when you look at all of the roll-up(?) and associated industries 

that we have with us. It is a critical component to what we do. 

As you’ve seen, and will continue to see, mainly the businesses in the wine 

industry are family-owned businesses. Being good stewards of the land and good 

neighbors is really a cornerstone, I think, of their business philosophy, and our 

sustainability program really, I think, reflects that quite well. It is a framework for, 

really, most of our wineries and vineyards in the state of California, and it really 

does help us make long-term business planning decisions. 

As most of you know who’ve been to our operations, or others that you’re 

going to hear from today—really, this is not just about day-to-day business 

planning; this is generational planning. Because it’s not just about how we’re 

going to make money tomorrow or turn a profit next quarter. It’s about how the 
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owners of these businesses are going to pass these businesses on to their kids and 

their kids and so on and so on. In many cases, we’re in our second, third, and 

fourth generation, in some cases fifth generation ownership of businesses in 

California, and I think that sustainability is really key to that. 

And of course, as you’ve heard, the Code of Sustainable Winegrowing 

Practices is really the centerpiece of that program.  It has over 200 practices that 

focus on everything from environmentally preferred purchasing to things that we’re 

here to talk about today, which is energy and water management—which, as you 

know, are integrally tied. Integrated pest management.  Other water applications 

that really, I think, provide guidance and best practices for the industry as a 

whole. The third version of that booklet was issued just last year, so we’ve been at 

this for, as Steve said, nearly 15 years now. Hard to believe. I think with each 

successful iteration of the book it has improved greatly, because as the best 

practices improve, we can represent the most modern-thinking science associated 

with it.  And I think it really has driven us down the path to some very successful 

outcomes; many of which you mentioned in your introductions, Mr. Chesbro. 

I will say that one of the biggest things I think we’ve accomplished in the 

last couple of years is started to really focus on metrics within the industry. And 

the Code of Practice and the CSWA program have really led that. We have 

developed a set of metrics within the industry that allow us to track energy and 

water usage very carefully, and not just track it within your own business but 

compare your performance against those of others within the industry that utilize 

the program.  And I think if you look at what’s going to drive activity beyond just 

the great science—and, as many people say, never let a crisis go to waste, right? 

because it always drives change.  This is one of those opportunities.  The other 

thing that drives change within our industry is competition. No one likes to be 

seen as the worst. They always want to be seen as the best.  So the metrics, I 

think, are going to go a tremendous distance in getting us to where we need to be 

to continue to move the mark. 

I want to talk about a couple of other programs we’ve initiated in the last 

couple of years that directly relate to energy uses and greenhouse gas reduction, 

which I know is what we’re here to talk about.  One is we’ve just recently 
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completed a life-cycle assessment project, or LCA, for the industry.  Basically, it’s 

looking at everything from the grape growing all the way out to the retail gate 

effectively.  So it takes a look at the full environmental impact, energy impact, 

water impact of that whole process.  And again, as it ties back to the metrics I 

mentioned earlier, when you have tools in place that allow you to look at your 

business with that level of granularity, that’s what drives change.  And we’re 

seeing some of that change take place for us right now. 

I think, also, as you look at the need to really properly analyze and evaluate 

the greenhouse gas emissions, the need for that comes from two fronts. One is, 

obviously, energy costs continue to be an issue for us, so we’re looking at reducing 

our energy consumption. But quite frankly, our consumers and our retailers care 

about it as well, and we want to make sure that we’re in a good position to speak 

to that. 

And then to delve even deeper into the science, we’ve also helped sponsor 

and adapt the denitrification and decomposition model for the wine and grape 

industry.  And we just call that DNDC for short because no one wants to say 

denitrification and decomposition too many times. Basically, what that has 

allowed us to do, that model, is we can now take a look at our vineyards and we 

can determine the actual amount of sequestration of greenhouse gas emissions 

and actual emissions that come from those sources. That’s, again, a level of 

scientific granularity that we have not been able to accomplish up until recently. 

So when you take everything I think CSWA has done on a whole, it is taking 

the most recent thinking and value-added science and driving that towards a 

successful program implementation that allows all wineries and growers within the 

state, no matter what their size, no matter what they produce, to look at their 

business in a meaningful way and trying to drive real meaningful change. It’s 

showing in the bottom lines of these companies as well, because when you can 

reduce your energy consumption, it has a direct effect on greenhouse gas 

emissions. It reduces your bottom-line costs.  When you can reduce your water 

usage, it puts you in a much better position, particularly in years like we’re facing 

today, that you’re not having to be so heavily reliant on either municipal supplies 
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or, in a lot of cases, groundwater supplies, which, as you’ve heard in the previous 

two panels, is an area of great concern for us and will continue to be. 

Before I relinquish control of the mike, I probably would be a little remiss, 

and my owners would not be happy, if I didn’t comment at least on a few things 

that Gallo specifically was doing.  We’ve been engaged in this, really, for the last 80 

years in one form or fashion, although we probably didn’t call it sustainability 

back then. But we have actively partnered with not only others in the industry 

but also with suppliers like Pacific Gas & Electric and others to implement across­

the-board energy-saving projects related to our ammonia compressor systems, 

such you are able to produce our cooling and chilling systems at the most efficient 

level possible.  That has had a huge impact on us.  Moving production to off­

season—or, I’m sorry, off-peak demand is a huge benefit to PG&E as well as to us. 

We have implemented a number of motor changes throughout the organization. 

I’m fairly deep in the organization right now, so I apologize.  But you have to 

understand, to really effect change, it’s not just always about the big projects. 

Sometimes it’s about the accumulation of small projects that make the biggest 

level of difference. 

And then I’ll maybe speak to something that Ms. Olsen knows quite well. 

Gallo is also a holder of the biggest glass manufacturing facility in the world.  So 

we do nothing on a small scale, which, from my world, is a little unfortunate at 

times because everything has to have a big impact. 

But our furnaces, which are tremendous energy consumers—and we’re part 

of the AB 32 program for the state and so on—we have actively taken to rebuild 

these furnaces, which have to be done about every seven years, with the most 

energy-efficient process out there.  That has resulted in about an 8 percent 

reduction in our energy consumption, just from our most recent furnace rebuild, 

and we have three more to go. Eight percent on a facility of our size is enormous. 

It is the size of a small city, effectively. 

So we’re seeing big changes in the industry from that perspective, and we’re 

going to, I think, continue to see the benefits from that. 
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ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: You missed my cue on how much less 

energy it takes to melt recycled glass cullet than to make a glass from raw 

materials. 

MR. SAVAGE: Fair point, and I was going to touch on that at the very end, 

so thanks for bringing that back up. But you’re absolutely correct. Taking cullet 

is one of the big things that we can do to reduce energy consumption. 

So those are just a few examples of what we’ve done. We’re incredibly proud 

to be associated with Wine Institute and the CSWA program. We’re happy to be in 

front of you, and we thank you for taking the time to listen to us and look forward 

to speaking more at the end of the day. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Ms. Yamada. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER YAMADA: I just wanted to say—I wanted to 

apologize.  I’m going to have to run out for a few minutes.  With any luck, I’ll be 

back at 4:30.  So I just wanted to explain my absence, but I shall return.  Thank 

you. Good luck. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Any other comments or questions? 

Thank you very much, Mr. Savage.  Nice to see a fellow lumberjack. 

Next we’ll call on Bill Cooper, Cooper-Garrod Estate Vineyards.  Welcome. 

MR. BILL COOPER: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  If I may, it’s Garrod 

[correct pronunciation].  Garrod Road at University of California, Davis.  The 

Garrod family started—my maternal side—farming here in 1893 prunes and 

apricots for the first 70 years, transitioning through riding stables into vineyards, 

which was actually my dad’s retirement project.  He was a research test pilot at 

NASA.  We were in the hills above Saratoga in the Santa Cruz Mountains. 

But sitting here next to Chris brings back great memories. It was two years 

ago I left the CSWA board after nine years, and putting Cooper-Garrod next to 

Gallo—we have 28 acres of vineyard.  Nobody knows how many they have. I’m 

always, always impressed by the logistics, the engineering, the insight that Chris 

brings to problems because he looks at everything from a global perspective, and 

we’re sitting here dealing on our little … 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: But to quote the previous panel, you’re 

both family-owned. 
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MR. COOPER: Both family-owned, right. 

We made our transition to organic. We started in 2006, so we started 

finishing it in ’09 and finally in ’11.  And this has had one very positive effect. The 

first thing my cousin learned was when you don’t put Roundup down underneath 

the vineyard rows, you don’t have to drive the tractor through.  So we’re saving 

energy there.  A flipside of sustainability—we’re in the hills—our primary concern 

is erosion.  So there’s no more disking of the hills; we just let the roots stay there. 

But we do have to go through the vineyards more than once because we have to 

mow it to keep it down.  This year that’s not a problem.  The grass didn’t even 

start to grow until last month. I don’t know if we’ll have to go through at all. But 

these things are little things that add up. 

The sustainable winegrowing program, of which there are several in the 

state, what I really like about it is that it advocates continual change, continual 

improvement.  When you go through the self-assessment—you don’t have to be 

certified; any farmer, any grower, or winemaker can go through this, and you 

heard about the best management practices that are there—you pick and choose. 

You find out what it is that fits with what your situation is, what drives you and 

says: Oh yeah, I’m here—and I’m doing this online now; we used to have to go and 

show up and do this—but if I did this, I could improve my score. And you can just 

find lots of examples of things to do. Water and energy are some of the biggest 

ones, because the more water you save, then you’re saving 20 percent…20 percent 

of the cost of water is energy. So all those things come up. 

You have to have numbers, and this is back to the data that Chris 

mentioned, and this is something that’s been driven into us in the CSWA program 

from the very beginning by our very first consultant.  He said, You’ve got to get the 

data.  You can’t manage anything without the data. And you begin to understand 

that. 

The other thing that comes out is when you’re talking with your neighbors— 

hey, the tide is going to rise, everybody’s going to be improving unless you’re 

anchored in the way you used to do it forty years ago.  There’s a great deal of 

expertise that has been developed through the universities and through the 

neighbors and through the Farm Bureau and all these organizations.  The trick is 
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getting it out and getting people to have time…to take time away from the crises of 

the day, because every day something’s happening you have to get done.  With the 

program like CSWA, then you’re able to plan ahead because you take a few hours 

at the beginning of the year—Okay, this is what I want to do; this is what this little 

self-assessment did for me. 

So in that context, what have we been doing?  We’ve changed our 

composting from our riding stables, and now it is compost at organic standards. 

We’ve put it under the vineyard rows for suppression of weeds instead of the 

others. Cooling at night—we turn off the chiller; it’s on a time control. So the only 

time it runs is in the evenings. An insulated building in the evening when 

electricity rates are down.  And so, we let everybody else use the power during the 

day.  We put in solar panels in 2005. I’ll note that in 2003 there were two wineries 

with solar panels.  The last numbers that anybody was able to find are 2010. 

There was a 50-fold increase in that seven years. PG&E is, I think, very…one, I 

know they’re very supportive of what we’re doing, and I also understand they’re 

very appreciative of what the wine industry is doing in terms of getting out and 

doing the sort of programs that you’ve heard about. 

Inside the winery, it takes more than a year to start doing things. Energy 

efficiency—we’re now just getting into replacing CFLs with LEDs, with the new 

wiring project that we have. You’ve heard how many people…other people.  We 

have five. Composting hazardous material; getting the stuff out. It’s been 

collecting in the shed, in the back.  One other thing—inventory it.  When you start 

inventorying, you see the same stuff there year after year after year.  Then you say, 

Maybe we can move this stuff on. 

In conversation with the neighboring winery the other day—he’s very 

concerned about water.  We all dry-farm in the Santa Cruz Mountains because you 

can’t pump the water that high.  He’s very concerned because we’ve only had 7 

inches of rain.  He doesn’t know if he’s going to buy barrels this year.  Ridge—in 

’07 or ’08, also above the waterline, but there’s no pumping. They’re all dependent 

upon wells, worried about drought, from the ’07 drought where we had 15 inches 

of rain and put in drip irrigation just in case.  We put it in as well in the 

subsequent years, and we have yet to decide if this is the…you know, what are we 
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going to do?  I think the industry, from my perspective, we’re very much in flux, 

trying to figure out what’s going to happen and what we can do to see ourselves 

through it and for what’s coming. 

But those are some of the examples I think, I hope, will describe for you as 

to what little wineries are doing to make a continual improvement in how we grow 

grapes and produce wine for you. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Thank you very much, Mr. Cooper.  And 

it’s pretty obvious from everything we’ve heard so far how applicable—not every 

one of the principles but in different combinations—these things are from the very 

smallest to the largest producers.  So that’s a point that I’m taking away that I 

think is a very important one. 

Thanks. 

Next we have Christy Pestoni Abreu, Pestoni Family Winery. 

MS. CHRISTY PESTONI ABREU: I’m here from the wine standpoint today, 

I guess. 

Well, my family—I’m going to trump you on this—because my grandpa 

came, and great-grandfather, in 1886 and began making wine in 1892.  From 

Switzerland. He had a little winery at the base of El Caño, which is now the water 

supply for the city of St. Helena. My family got out of the wine business during 

Prohibition and began doing contract farming work, which then led to my dad, 

when he was about 24, starting raising hogs.  And if you ever hear the story about 

how people got into waste management, it usually has a hog behind it. 

Anyway, in St. Helena, the upper end of Napa Valley, he began raising hogs, 

and he created a route where he picked up from the local hospital, the veterans’ 

home, bakery, grocery store, and pretty soon he had a route.  And by 1963, he had 

gone to the county of Napa and received a franchise agreement to haul commercial 

waste to the local landfill. And as he was hauling it to the local landfill, the guys 

that owned the landfill said, We don’t really want to do this anymore. So by 1966 

he also owned the landfill.  But so much has happened between now and then. 

I think Member Chesbro wanted me to come to talk about composting.  One 

of the first wineries that we began composting with was in 1966, and it was Robert 

Mondavi Winery, and they came to us and said, Well, we built this beautiful winery, 
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but we don’t have anywhere to put the pomace. And so, my father said, Well, we 

can pick up the pomace, and we can compost it. Maybe I’ll feed it to my pigs. We 

still had some pigs.  In any event, I think the pigs got drunk, and my dad got 

smarter, and he started composting it with a loader.  And John Williams can attest 

to this because he might have been a neighbor then—I’m not sure—but eventually 

we got better at composting and went from a loader to a SCARAB. 

In the early ’90s we had a water problem. We had a big pond, but the pond 

got anaerobic because the seeds were going crazy in the pond.  And so, we had 

this BOD problem, and our neighbors formed a group called Citizens for 

Environmental Protection—which we thought that was us but we were wrong—so 

we had to get better at composting. 

We hired an expert composter from Canton, Massachusetts. His name is 

Eliot Epstein.  I don’t even know if he’s alive anymore, but he’s probably 99 years 

old. Anyway, he said, You need to, because of the acidicness of the grape pomace, 

you need to add some other stuff to it, and you don’t want to turn it because when 

you turn it, you throw the odor up in the air, and then it lands in your neighbor’s 

backyard. So we’re going to remove that process.  So we went to, over a three-year 

period, an aerated static pile. At the time, we weren’t taking in green waste for the 

residential sector.  We were actually back-hauling rice hulls from the Chico area, 

and we were mixing that in with our compost, and then we were inverting air using 

a static pile and then not turning it and then breaking it down and screening it. 

That, actually, was kind of a pioneering process.  We were noted by the 

vintners and the grape growers.  We were in National Geographic and BioCycle 

Magazine for, like, innovative composting efforts, when most of those people that 

were composting were using a SCARAB in the windrow process.  So to date, I think 

most composters out there are using aerated static pile, and now we’re moving into 

anaerobic digestion to capture the gases and make fuel and whatnot. 

So I guess what I want to say is that we’ve come a long way. We’re actually 

a partner with many of the wineries in the upper valley community. We probably 

compost 120 wineries’ materials.  Some of those wineries compost their own, if 

they have the luxury to have the property to do it and the equipment.  But many of 

the wineries, because it’s a compact area, the land is too valuable to compost it 
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themselves.  We probably send about 80 percent of the composted product right 

back into the vineyard, and this year we’re completely sold out of our compost 

product. And everything is certified “organic” with the Organic Material Institute 

and also the CDFA. 

One of the other things that I do on a regular basis is waste audits, which 

you heard a lot about the sustainability and emissions calculations. Robert 

Mondavi is one of those reports that I do monthly.  They get a report about every 

activity that engages our company, from compost to recycling, to cardboard, to 

food waste collection. I think that’s part of their global “getting to zero waste” 

program. I know that that’s actually very common now, and we’re moving into a 

need for new computer systems that tracks all this information. 

One of the other things that I just wanted to mention as an independent 

hauler and moving into the future—by 2020 we will have avoided 103,862 metric 

tons of CO2 just by those activities.  And we have on the forefront a methane gas 

collection program.  That actually should have been turned on a year ago, but we 

ran into PG&E issues—but we’re close. And then, we also have a wood biomass 

plant permitted for both ends of Napa County which will take the grape cuttings 

every season, all new replanted wood material, and we’ll be producing anywhere 

from 1 to 3 megawatts of power just from that program. And then the residual 

matter is the biochar, which then has carbon sequester and can go back into the 

vineyard or be added into compost. So I think you’ll be seeing, actually, quite a 

few more of these facilities statewide. I think the Governor wants to see 1,200. 

Maybe not exactly that kind, but renewable green power energy programs. 

I also sit on the Sustainable Napa County Committee, which is an advocacy 

group that works with the wine industry, all organizations within Napa County, 

and nonprofits that need help with energy conservation, water conservation— 

whatever it is that they need help. This is an independent group. And then, I also 

sit on the California recycling company over here in Sacramento. An advocacy 

group, too. 

So I think I’ve pretty much met everybody here at some point.  More recently 

a few of you. 

Anyway, any questions? 
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ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Well, thank you very much. I hope the 

hearing gets over before people get tired of my ancient stories, but I will say that 

my first contact with the Pestoni family was when the then-state senator called up 

a member of the Integrated Waste Management Board—me—and said, I’ve got 

these constituents—and by the way, he claimed to have gotten his start in life as a 

teenager slopping those pigs that you were talking about, and he’s now our 

congressman, or the congressman for Napa. 

MS. ABREU: That’s right. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: But in any case, we were able to…really, 

one of the first examples of the newly created Integrated Waste Management Board 

working with a composter to help figure out how this could be done in a way that 

wouldn’t have the neighbors up in arms but at the same time accomplish the very 

important environmental goals that our pre-AB 32 recycling law called for.  So 

really, your family has just been pioneering so many things, and it’s really great to 

have you here. Best regards to your folks. 

MS. ABREU: Thank you for including me. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Yes, question from Ms. Olsen. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER KRISTIN OLSEN: Yes, impressive pioneering and 

great story. 

As you moved to anaerobic digestion in your company, have you had any 

struggles or challenges with state agencies in attempting to do that? 

MS. ABREU: We have not at this time. We actually have gotten all of our 

permits.  But our partner company is in the south county.  Because we’re in the 

north end, anaerobic digestion, at this point, feasibly, from an economic 

standpoint, doesn’t pan out for us.  We have 8,000 customers in a very small and 

rural neighborhood.  South of us we partner with a company that services the 

Napa Greater Area, and they have applied and are actually trying to get some grant 

funding for the anaerobic digestion program. It may end up that it’s also 

partnered with the Napa Sanitation District, which you will see and hear more 

about those types of facilities—waste water treatment plants—that will be heading 

down the same pathway. 

35
 



   

   

 

           

    

      

  

  

  

   

    

 

           

   

     

   

      

  

    

 

             

   

   

   

           

 

 

  

   

    

   

              

 
 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: You did make reference to issues with 

marketing small producers of electricity—marketing their electricity.  That’s a 

challenge. 

MS. ABREU: Yes. Well, from what I’ve learned thus far, it’s best if the 

energy is produced and used onsite. As far as the Clover Flat Landfill goes, they 

don’t use a lot of electricity there.  We do have a construction and demolition line, 

but actually, where our MRF is (which is called a Materials Recovery Facility), 

where there are recyclables, that facility operates six days a week, ten hours a day. 

That thing is running.  That’s actually the place that should be utilizing that 

power, but it just doesn’t always work out that way. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Any other questions or comments?  If 

not, we have Matt Belair with Delicato Family Vineyards.  Welcome. 

MR. MATT BELAIR: Thank you for having me. Again, my name is Matt 

Belair, and I work for Delicato Family Vineyards.  We’re relatively young at the 

table—we’ve only been in Manteca for 90 years. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: You don’t look that old. 

MR. BELAIR: And we are currently the tenth largest winery, to give you a 

little background. 

To touch on Mr. Cooper and Mr. Savage’s comments, and the big theme here 

of small improvements and many small improvements, the first five years that I 

was at the winery, we started about 32 projects, and by the time we were done in 

that five years, we did about 9 million kilowatt hours saved. It took some 

convincing the owners that it actually happened.  We had to re-crunch numbers. 

That is, in fact, our accomplishment.  PG&E was kind enough to recognize us for 

that effort, and then later on in some other capital projects they recognized us 

again. 

But our mantra, really, to go on the sustainable model, is that we are 

constantly looking at our inefficiencies, constantly taking those audits, those 

scores, and we’re looking for places where we can improve. 

So just to give you a couple of examples—we have a preventative 

maintenance program, and so, we can predict now when equipment will fail, and 

we can predict when to buy and what equipment to buy to replace that. And more 
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often than not, when we do replace it, it’s saving power.  We also look at something 

simple like your air compressors for all the plant air, just by finding all the leaks 

and replacing those leaks and removing them. Improve the compressor’s efficiency 

by 30 percent, reducing that power load. And simple lubrication in the alignment 

of motors can also gain you another drop in efficiency. 

And when we talk about refrigeration—Chris was talking about the 

efficiency gains there. We also looked at it on the other side of, does the wine need 

to be that cold?  After looking at it, we figured out that we could not chill the wine 

as cold as we were previously, and we were able to avoid having to install a whole 

other refrigeration unit, just by changing the way we chilled wine. 

Also on demand response, we look at cycling the power.  Everyone is so 

committed at the winery that we even have to adjust our thermostats another five 

degrees when it is those high times. It gets a little toasty, but then we get out and 

move and get work on the floor. 

So again, just to reiterate, it is a team effort. Healthy competition never 

hurt anyone.  And just appreciate being invited to the panel. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Thank you very much for your 

presentation—all of you.  Any other discussion or questions from members of the 

committee? 

If not, thanks.  Appreciate all of the good work that all of the folks 

represented here today, but other members of the industry as well, are doing to 

make industry more sustainable. 

So our final panel of the day will focus on winegrowing, ecotourism, and 

promoting those efforts.  Restaurants and wine shops are featuring wines 

produced from organic grapes using sustainable practices.   The growing “farm-to­

fork” movement is a natural partner for the environmentally conscious wine 

industry.  Today we will hear from sustainable winery leaders.  Unfortunately, our 

Locavore Restaurant tour had to cancel earlier today due to a family emergency, 

but the panelists who are with us today are Karissa Kruse, Sonoma County 

Winegrowers; and Amy Hoopes from Wente Vineyards.  So please come forward 

and join us. 

We will begin with Karissa Kruse.  Welcome. 
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MS. KARISSA KRUSE: Hi.  Thank you for having me. It’s great to be here. 

I’m really proud to represent the winegrowers and winemakers and vintners of 

Sonoma County. 

About three months ago—gosh, a couple of months ago now, on January 

15—we made a very bold commitment as a county to sustainability, and our goal 

is to be 100 percent sustainable in the next five years as a wine industry. And 

what that means is both the wineries and winegrowers working together. Why do 

we do this?  Really, we wanted to do our part, as our county, to support what’s 

been sort of California’s leadership role in sustainability through the CSWA and 

other sustainability programs over the past fifteen-plus years. And so, we felt this 

was a really important initiative for our county, and it’s an important initiative 

when you think about the consumer and the marketplace. 

So what does sustainability mean? I think that’s probably the hardest 

question to answer.  I’ve done now a lot of press interviews on this conversation. I 

talk about it all the time, and I say, I think sustainability is really complicated and 

it’s very serious, but the results are actually really simple. It’s about, for us, 

ensuring that we keep agriculture in our county, ensuring that people want to 

work for us, work with us, live by us.  When we talk about having wineries and 

vineyards, ensuring we have a viable business. In Sonoma County, the wine 

industry accounts for about 13.4 billion of economic impact, and that’s 60 

percent—6-0 percent—of our GDP, and we’re responsible for one in three jobs. 

So when you think about Sonoma County as a whole, sustainability as an 

initiative, it goes hand-in-hand and is really critical in order to ensure the future of 

everyone in our community. And so, that was another reason why it was a really 

important stake for us to put in the ground as a county. The fun marketing part 

of this is, well, how do you ensure against greenwashing, right?  That’s the other 

popular question I’ve gotten, and that’s why we’ve really been looking to programs 

like the CSWA and that leadership—Lodi Rules, SIP, others—that have a third-

party certification program to come in so that really validates that we’re walking 

the talk. So when we say we’re doing something, we’re actually having someone 

come in and validate that that is what we’re doing and that we’re being mindful of 

that.  So that’s part of how we get around that greenwashing aspect. 
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So why this is important for Sonoma County in addition to the economic 

impact and viability is that it really was the perfect intersection of who we are and 

our heritage and our legacy and then what’s happening in the marketplace. I’m 

going to touch on both of those. 

Sonoma County—I know there’s been a lot of dates thrown around, but our 

vineyards date back to the early 1800s, with the Russian fur traders and Spanish 

missionaries establishing the vineyards out on the Fort Ross-Seaview area, which 

is now a new AVA for us. It has continued to evolve.  By definition, sustainability 

equals multi-generation families being able to farm and make wine in the county. 

That is, by definition, how we endure and continue. And so, we know for us that 

putting this commitment out there isn’t a new idea. It’s not like, okay, now today 

we’re starting to do sustainability. It’s really an evolution or continuation of that 

tradition and heritage. 

And so, why now?  We’ve really seen a lot of things going on in the 

marketplace, and I’m just going to throw out some of the research we’ve looked at. 

We had some independent research that one of our larger wineries in our county 

conducted, and it shows that 66 percent of wine consumers are looking towards 

and interested in sustainably grown and crafted wines. That’s a pretty important 

thing. It also shows that both on- and off-premise trade accounts … 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Is that a national score? 

MS. KRUSE: That is a national score, mm hm, in the U.S. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: In Sonoma County that wouldn’t be too 

surprising. 

MS. KRUSE: Exactly.  Or California even.  It’s sort of interesting—I’ll even 

jump ahead to this—the National Restaurant Association releases a trend report 

every year, and for 2014, they said one of the top-five trends for food and beverage 

was environmentally sustainable food and beverage, and the top trend for the next 

ten years is sustainability for food and beverage.  So once you get to that kind of, I 

want to say, national scope of the National Restaurant Association, it has folks…it 

means folks like myself, who was born in South Dakota, and my family from Iowa 

and Nebraska, are talking about sustainability, which then really talks about how 
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important it is and how pervasive it is around the entire country.  So it’s not just 

something that we enjoy because we know we’re … 

UNIDENTIFIED: [Inaudible.] 

MS. KRUSE: Yes, we’re pretty progressive out here, so we know that.  But 

this is something that once it hits a national trend, it’s something that everyone is 

caring about. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: We like to think it all originates here. 

MS. KRUSE: I think inside these rooms we can commit to that, right? 

Absolutely. 

So I think that’s an important thing, again, when you look at the trends. 

And we also know ____________________ asked for it, so Wal-Mart has put a 

stake in the ground and said by 2017—so three years from now—that 70 percent 

of their products are going to be sustainable that they sell.  When you have folks 

like Wal-Mart—I mean, you think about…you know, sustainability to us really 

goes hand-in-hand with quality, which is another reason it’s such a great fit for 

Sonoma County and the wines that we make here in California.  But I think when 

you have someone like Wal-Mart saying sustainability is important, that’s bringing 

it to the masses. Certainly, the high-end wine retailers and hotels also think it’s 

important.  So I think there’s just been this big movement. 

One of the things that we have the opportunity to do as California—and we 

see as part of our accountability in Sonoma County—is to really shape what that 

means for consumers when it comes to wine and when it comes to agriculture, 

especially grape growing.  And so, by putting the stake in the ground, for us has 

allowed us to do is really start that conversation on a more national level, start 

that education, which I think is really critical. We’ll be leaning heavily on our 

friends at the Wine Institute and COG to help us continue carrying those 

messages for us, but it really does open that door. And I think the biggest surprise 

out of all of this is we went out there, and we know this was a good thing to do; we 

know it was the right thing to do; we know it’s a continuation of what we’ve been 

doing.  But it’s amazing locally, and this is where we love support from you as our 

leaders. 
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For some reason, in the past—it seems like twenty years—agriculture’s 

really kind of gotten a black eye.  We’ve been really defensive, I think, and not been 

as proactive or on the offense.  We’re really using this sustainability commitment 

to go on the offense in Sonoma County and to go on the offense for agriculture. 

mean, I consider farmers to be the original environmentalists.  So if you think 

about that—and now we’re sometimes at odds with those groups, saying we’re 

trying to preserve the land and here’s how we’re doing it.  And so, I think for us 

locally it’s been an amazing, I want to say, initiative because it’s really opened the 

door to have conversations with the business community, with our local leaders, 

with our neighbors, on what we’re trying to do.  So we’re excited to have put that 

stake in the ground. 

I can exhaust you, which is why I handed out what is a working document 

of continuing questions we’re trying to answer and what it means and how we do it 

and what our commitment is to it, but we are very proud to be committed to it. 

We’re proud to be part of the leadership California has established in this area and 

do our part. We’d love to continue to keep you updated on that and know that our 

county’s near and dear too.  Many of you up there. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: All right, thanks. 

MS. KRUSE: Thanks. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: The 60 percent GDP number—I think 

you’re just talking about the direct wine industry. Are you including visitorship 

related to that? 

MS. KRUSE: We looked at the numbers and we averaged about $1.3 billion 

in tourism dollars as part of that.  That was actually a really low … 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: So it was … 

MS. KRUSE: It does include, yes. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: That’s what I was curious about. 

MS. KRUSE: It’s the impact of the wine industry for the county. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Clearly, in our region, and increasingly in 

many other wine regions, the multiplier effect on hospitality and visitorship and all 

of those is huge as well. 
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MS. KRUSE: It’s interesting—we used, actually, a very conservative 

estimate for that. I think Napa uses about 80-90 percent of the tourism is wine­

related—grape growing or vineyards.  We went down to about 65 percent because 

we always get into the debate that people love to come to Sonoma County to hike 

and take advantage of our beautiful landscape, which is absolutely true. I would 

argue the vineyards are the most beautiful part of the landscape since I own one 

personally. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: It’s also interconnected. 

MS. KRUSE: It’s so interconnected, but obviously, folks come and enjoy our 

landscape and enjoy our wines. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: I think—and I’m speaking for myself—I 

think most wine consumers, it’s a package; it’s all together.  I mean, the beauty of 

the winegrape regions and the hospitality—it’s a whole package of experiences that 

also make you more interested in particular wines because you’ve been there, 

you’ve tasted them, you’ve been in that environment. 

MS. KRUSE: Exactly. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Okay. Well, thank you very much. 

Finally, we’re going to have Amy Hoopes with Wente. 

MS. AMY HOOPES: Thank you very much for having the opportunity to 

come. I agree with you—it’s a wonderful opportunity to share the passion of both 

the winegrowing but then the marketing, the tourism that it really does; the 

connection; that you continue to grow with consumers not just within California, 

that I think get it a little bit better, but those beyond throughout the U.S. and then 

on a global basis. 

I’ve been with the Wente family, working for them, for the past seven years, 

and before that was actually with the Gallo family for ten. So 17 years in the 

industry. A very small amount of time.  But the Wente family settled in 1883 in 

the Livermore Valley.  With their first vineyards was C.H. Wente planting that 

original 48 acres.  The most interesting part was when I met Carl Wente, fifth 

generation, who’s now our winemaker. He said to me, you know, I was taught by 

both my father and my great-grandfather—his grandfather had already passed—if 

you take care of the land, it will always take care of you. And I think that’s the 
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philosophy that has been passed down not just generation to generation within the 

Wente family, but as we’ve heard today from so many of the agricultural 

businesses, many family-owned and operated. 

Again, Wente Vineyards, 131 years.  They didn’t call it sustainable in the 

first place but started with 48 acres and now managing well over 3,000; and 

additionally, another 1,000 acres of what we call Wente land and cattle, where 

we’ve got over 100 head of cattle that we’re doing grass fed; actually, a grass-fed, 

wine-finished beef program. Earlier someone mentioned feeding the pomace to the 

hogs.  We actually wine-finish the beef, looking at a very sustainable program that 

was going on in France.  You can come to the restaurant and enjoy that grass-fed, 

wine-finished beef at the restaurant at Wente Vineyards. 

So really, the vision that Carolyn Wente was really instrumental in bringing 

forward was the understanding that there was clearly a passion and a love of the 

land and the engagement of agriculture and its importance to the industry; and 

people beyond the ability to get to the vineyards didn’t understand that as well, 

right? So you get outside of winegrowing regions, even within California, to 

pockets of places that haven’t been to a vineyard or states beyond as you go 

eastward.  You couldn’t gain the same emotional connection. 

I think you quoted some really great statistics that we talk about all the 

time—the National Restaurant Association—and that focus on sustainability and 

where your food sourcing is coming from, as well as beverage programs, Wal-Mart. 

Target now has put a mandate out similar to say that they will not take product on 

the shelf that doesn’t meet minimum standards for sustainable packaging and 

processing and ingredients, if you will, for everything from beauty care into the 

food aisles now. So I think the awareness level has absolutely risen, but it’s the 

commitment and where it starts in the land and how that goes forward. And I 

wanted to share with you a couple of the things that the family’s been doing. 

We talk a lot about sustainability, too, and what is that definition, and I was 

taught very simply with a really great triangle that Karl put up and said, Well, it’s 

about the three things: it’s about the environment, the social, but then also the 

economic. So it’s about environmentally: if you don’t take care of the land, it won’t 
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take care of you for the future.  And he’s like, I’m fifth generation and I don’t want 

to be the one to screw this up, right?  It’s what he always says. 

And then, from a social standpoint—I mean, we’re large landowners in the 

Livermore Valley, with over 3,000 acres there and another almost 1,000 down in 

Arroyo Seco, Monterey County, and we need to be good neighbors.  We’re involved 

not just on the agricultural side of the business, but we have, either as family 

members or individuals that work for the company, we’re also integrated into arts 

programs locally, giving back to the educational systems in both of those counties, 

because it’s important to us to be a good neighbor so that we can continue to get 

the support for the agriculture. 

And then, of course, the economic side of things, right? You can’t stay in 

business 131 years by not making fiscally responsible, environmentally 

sustainable decisions that allow you to do that.  So being proud to be part of the 

CCSW and being certified not only for our vineyard holdings but also for our 

winery operations was really great, and it was followed then by that commitment 

from the Audubon International certification for our golf course.  So not only from 

a vineyard standpoint are we recognized for sustainable practices—give you a 

couple of stats on vineyards and operations:  On an annual basis, we’re recycling 

over 50,000 pounds of glass, another 50,000 pounds of cardboard.  Nearly 10,000 

pounds of plastic. On a daily basis we’re saving over 500 gallons of water on our 

bottling line alone because of different adjustments that we’ve made. 

So we’re a mid-sized winery.  We’re not the big guys—the Gallos, the 

Constellations, or even the Delicato family, for that matter—but we’re mid-sized, 

we would say, but we’re still a Top 25 with the production and the usage we have 

out of that. But again, it’s how are we extending that commitment beyond just the 

vineyards and our operations but into the golf course? 

As I said, in 2010 we got certification from the Audubon Society, 

International certification, for the way that we’re running that golf course.  Right— 

interesting. I see the look on your face there. And it has to do with the way that 

we’ve planted and designed the course: drought tolerant, if you will; plantings all 

local; perennial plantings on the property.  We have a lot of watershed and natural 

preserved lands, so we’re doing a lot of small animal foresting habitats on the 
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property.  We’ve an owl box program.  We actually integrate the local Livermore 

Valley schools, and now the Pleasanton schools are asking to come over.  And we 

do environmental hikes through the golf course to educate.  We see over a 

thousand different species on the golf course on any given month, and we record it 

all and keep it there.  So we not only have about 40,000 golfers come through a 

year, but we see tens of thousands of hikers that want to come through and take 

the tour and bird watch and look at the habitat that we’ve created by having that 

sustainable golf course, which is wonderful. 

Then go from the golf course to the restaurants.  The NRA is saying it’s so 

important, and the sustainability—really look to do a closed loop there.  So we 

have all local and sustainable producers that we’re buying our produce and meats 

from, but we also have a one-acre organic garden and a fulltime master gardener. 

So we run an organic garden.  It’s one acre now. It started out as just, literally, a 

small strip, because when we opened 27 years ago, a woman, Diane, who’s now 

the master gardener, adorable, said, Hey, I just want to plant some herbs.  Every 

week when the guy comes to deliver the stuff, it’s super-expensive, and I think I can 

grow them right there by the driveway.  Eric Wente hemmed and hawed and then 

let her dig it up, and now that’s become a full one-acre organic garden that in the 

high season it’s producing and delivering vegetables or herbs full year-round. 

There’s a full planting guide with the chef, and we’re using 100 percent of what 

comes out of the garden, and we’re actually using the clippings from the golf 

course in our composting program that go back on top to the garden.  So not just 

in the vineyards with our pomace and our recycling.  We have acres of composting 

not from just vineyard waste but from the restaurant and all green waste, as well 

as combining what’s coming from the golf course. So again, that closed loop 

enabling. 

And from a tourism standpoint, it’s unbelievable. When we do restaurant 

garden tours, they sell out immediately. People are so excited to come and to learn 

and to be educated and to see it hands-on. You were saying, to see it, touch it, 

feel it, gives you a much different engagement with a brand, and that’s really what 

the Wente family, again, is trying to show.  They’ve been committed to the 

industry, to California, to the Livermore Valley, and winegrowing and grape 
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growing, but how can we extend that program in a way that allows others to be 

educated, to learn, and to physically engage? 

Which brings me to the last point.  We’re actually opening in May what we 

call the Winemaker’s Studio.  It’s focused on a hands-on experiential engagement 

that will take consumers through all of the sustainable practices that we’re 

doing—growing in the vineyard.  Engagements where you get into the vineyard 

every quarter to understand what’s happening and how we’re conserving or what 

practices are going on. And then, at the end they can also blend their own bottle 

of wine.  But again, it’s about that education that’s so important as well, because I 

think, as you see on the national basis, these trends are growing and being so 

much more impactful.  Without that educational piece, we’d only be talking to 

ourselves, and it’s the greater good that need to understand and be influenced by 

that. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Okay. Excellent.  Very inspiring. 

One more ancient story, I promise, and then I’ll quit.  When I was a member 

of the National Conference of State Legislators’ wine committee, we’d have a 

discussion at every meeting about which wine region to meet in, and there’d 

always be someone—and I won’t name names, but, you know, I stayed in the 

Pacific Northwest and I’ve stayed in the northeast—who would say, We want to be 

considered, and everybody would shout him down and say, No, no! The only 

reason I belong to this committee is so I can go to California.  We want to meet in 

California.  I mean, that’s a little, small example of what wine is.  That’s just a 

limited group who are state legislators, but nonetheless, we got a pretty good 

group of them every time we met in California. 

I really think there’s just a symbiotic relationship there; that it connects 

them—the beauty and culture that we have in this state with the land and the 

products that the wine industry produces. 

Other questions and comments? 

Well, this panel has provided us with food for thought.  We appreciate yours 

and all the presentations.  We also have a portion on the agenda for public 

comment, if there’s anybody who we missed who would like to have been on the 

panel or who would like to give us some thoughts. 
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Yes, come on forward. 

You’re free to go. Thanks very much. 

MR. DANA MERRILL: Real briefly, my name is Dana Merrill.  I’m a grape 

grower from Paso Robles now and farm on the Central Coast.  Seventh generation 

Californian.  My mom’s family came to build the missions.  Anyway, I’ve been 

through a few droughts. 

What I want to say is that I thought it was interesting—one of the things 

we’ve done down on the Central Coast, besides the Sustainable Winegrowing 

Alliance, has been participating down there.  We’re also the home of the Central 

Coast Vineyard Team. It was formed in the early ’90s. I had the honor of being on 

the inaugural board. We put that thing together. It’s been very successful.  We 

now have a SIP certification on the bottled wine. There’s some debate about 

whether that’s a good idea or not, but I know in our little winery we do have a very 

loyal cadre of people that buy the wine, and they look for that symbol in the stores, 

and it means something to them. It means sustainability and practice, thus that 

with third-party certification, you’ve met standards for growing the wine, treating 

the labor, taking care of the wine, and so on all the way through.  So I think that’s 

been really big. 

The other thing I want to point out, kind of building off Jerry’s remarks 

about what we’re going through with the water in Paso Robles—and we’re trying to 

work our way through to see if we can find consensus to form a water district—is I 

think if we could find some of the magic of what these programs, the Sustainable 

Alliance—Lodi’s done very well with their Lodi Rules—and a vineyard team, I think 

the one thing we’ve accomplished is we have built some esprit de corps and 

camaraderie in wanting to do what is the right thing.  You can tell the enthusiasm 

of the folks talking here and the idea that you’re really trying to sincerely 

accomplish self-improvement and leaving a little flexibility about how you’re going 

to go about doing it. 

I think that’s something to consider with legislation, or anything you folks 

are working on, if you can allow a little bit of room for the individual local areas to 

sort of tweak it a little bit and come up with their own way to succeed.  And I think 

one of the views of the Vineyard Team has been that you get people to do things 

47
 



  

     

            

    

    

        

              

       

   

           

  

  

              

         

          

        

  

   

           

       

  

   

    

 

   

      

  

       

             

   

    

  

 
 

because they want to do it; they want to do it because it’s economically sound, it’s 

good for their business, it’s good to take care of your farm, it’s good to take care of 

your water. Like Jerry and I were talking about, I’m going to spend 50 percent of 

my time in this water district crusade, and there’s some days you think, like, 

you’re trying to herd cats—or one guy said, herd feral cats to get this thing done. 

It’s very complicated, and you just want to change one little thing, and you get to 

come up to Sacramento again because you just need one little thing. But one little 

thing is not just one little thing when you come here. There’s a lot of things going 

on, so one has to wind their way through it. 

But the idea, when we get back there, is we want to see if we can—and I 

think we can do this—if we can get the agriculture to do the right thing, because 

it’s smart to do it.  We’re now trying to get our rural residential folks to kind of see 

the light the same way; that instead of going to the meeting and beating the heck 

out of each other, we actually can find common ground and say, Okay, how can 

we succeed together to keep all the wonderful things we got going on in Paso 

Robles? You know, a great economy, a dynamic place.  I mean, it has a lot of 

charm.  I have no denigration of Paso Robles. 

When I saw the movie Nebraska, which was a great movie, in a lot of ways 

when I moved to Paso Robles, it was on a decline; the grain business was coming 

to an end; it was a transition; it was set aside; and equipment dealerships were 

closing and so on.  They did a marvelous rebirth with the winegrape industry and 

all the new folks that have come there and the restaurants and everything.  That 

synergy we’d like to see go on, and I think if we could find a way to proactively do 

it together, boy, to me, it would be really gratifying to get it done that way and not 

have to do it through…you know, we hear it all the time, Well, if we don’t do 

anything, the state’s going to come in and make us do something. Well, that doesn’t 

sound very enthusiastic to me.  I’d rather do something because we could do it 

ourselves and do it the right way. If we could get some help from the state, I’m 

fine with that. But I don’t want to wait around for anybody to make me do 

anything. 

Anyway, I’m hopeful that being proactive and playing up on the success 

we’ve had with sustainability could also pay dividends in terms of planning how to 
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use water or use it differently or manage it and so on in the future.  So hopefully, 

there’s some good to be gotten out of some of the programs that have been 

successful up to now, and maybe we can use them as we go ahead. 

So that’s what I wanted to say. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Well, thank you very much for adding 

that additional input. 

Is there anyone else who would like to address the committee? If not, I want 

to thank everyone for attending today’s hearing, especially our presenters, who I 

think were wonderful. 

As many of you know, this is my last term. I’ve truly enjoyed working with 

the wine industry, which I’ve always referred to as the “rock stars of business.” I’ll 

miss working with all of you. I will continue to consume your product, so the 

relationship will not end.  And I wish all of you the best in the future. 

Would any of the other committee members like to make a comment? 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER EGGMAN: I would just like to say this is my first one 

I’ve attended, and it’s fascinating. And I just want to thank Mr. Chesbro for his 

leadership and dedication to this all his years here. We will definitely miss you 

and your wealth of wisdom. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Well, thanks. 

Any other comments? 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER YAMADA: Well, I believe that all three of us here are 

completing our time in the Legislature, so we’ll have other opportunities to 

celebrate the wine industry.  I think there’s an opportunity, I guess, after this 

hearing, that regrettably, because there’s a social worker recognition that both 

Assemblymember Eggman and I will be attending, but who knows?  Maybe we can, 

you know, we can slide over back and forth. 

But I have had the privilege of representing a large wine region just for a 

brief period.  It pales in comparison to the number of years that the dean of the 

Legislature here, Wes Chesbro, has served.  I, too, want to thank him for all of his 

leadership in not only this area but in so many other areas leading to a better 

society, a better world; and I think that only the best is yet to come. 
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I want to thank all the presenters as well. I didn’t mean to leave while the 

UC…somebody was just introducing themselves as being part of UC Davis, and I 

thought, oh no, I walked out right at the point that someone was testifying 

specifically from that great agricultural university. But I just want to thank you 

all, and I look forward to continuing to work on these issues in other fashions. 

Thank you so much. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Senator Evans? 

SENATOR EVANS: Yes, thank you. It’s a bittersweet moment. I’ve had the 

pleasure of chairing the Wine Committee in both the Assembly and in the Senate 

for the last ten years and had annual hearings like this, many of them devoted to 

the issue of sustainable agriculture, and this is my last one. 

It’s been a real treat to be able to represent the winegrape growing regions of 

Northern California.  Listening to the testimony today, as well as the other 

hearings that we’ve had in the past, it really brings home to me how much of a 

leadership role the winegrape growing and the wine producing regions of our state 

provide.  Not just in California, not just in the United States, but really worldwide. 

I have led a lot of Wine Committee tours to other winegrape growing regions 

in the world and had a lot of meetings with other leaders in other countries about 

sustainability and biodynamic farming and organic farming—what does this mean 

worldwide?—and I always come home to the conclusion that California really is a 

leader. And not just a leader on growing techniques or production techniques, but 

also in ecotourism and bringing people back to the land and what the land means 

to us in our daily lives, because most of us that are not farmers get disconnected 

from that and not understanding where our food comes from. It comes from 

Safeway, right?  Well, no, it comes from the land. It’s been a real opportunity for 

tourists to come to Napa or Sonoma, and now other grape growing regions, to find 

out that connection with the land. 

And I’m really appreciative of all the work that the industry is doing, and I 

hope it continues, and I hope to be in a position to continue enjoying the product. 

But it’s been a real privilege to be able to work with all of you folks and move this 

agenda forward. I will say it’s been a real change from when I first chaired my first 

meeting on this issue ten years ago to hearing what you’ve all done today. It’s 
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been a tremendous amount of work, and it’s been a real privilege to be part of that. 

So thank you. 

And thank you for this hearing, for everybody that was involved, including 

the staff for arranging this, and the Wine Institute. It was a great hearing. 

Thank you. 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHESBRO: Hear, hear! 

So, if there’s no other comments, I want to remind everyone that following 

this hearing there’s a reception in Room 317, which, if you don’t know your way 

around this confusing building, it’s on the third floor of the old building.  You ride 

the elevators off the side of the rotunda on the Assembly side up to the third floor. 

I will feature wines made using sustainable practices, so we’ll look forward to 

having a chance to continue the conversation. 

See you there. 
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